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® (1530)
[English]

The Chair (Mr. Vance Badawey (Niagara Centre, Lib.)): I'd
like to call this meeting to order.

Welcome, everybody. We are here today between 3:30 and five
o'clock to discuss the Max 8.

We have members of the Department of Transport with us: Mr.
Nicholas Robinson, director general, civil aviation, and Mr. David
Turnbull, director of national aircraft certification.

Welcome, gentlemen.

Are you going to go first, Mr. Robinson? You have 10 minutes.
We'll follow that with questions. Go ahead.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson (Director General, Civil Aviation, De-
partment of Transport): Good day, Mr. Chair, Vice-Chair and
committee members.

[Translation]

Let me begin by introducing myself. My name is Nicholas
Robinson and I am the Director General of Civil Aviation at Trans-
port Canada, responsible for aviation safety.

I am joined here today by my colleague David Turnbull, who is
the Director of National Aircraft Certification at Transport Canada.

[English]

We are pleased to be here today to support this study related to
aircraft certification.

Mr. Chair, let me start off by saying that Canada has one of the
safest civil aviation systems in the world. We have achieved this by
an unwavering commitment to safety and as a result of an excep-
tional level of expertise and technical experience that allows for us
to make evidence-based safety decisions in this very highly com-
plex, continuously evolving environment.

The certification of an aircraft involves careful examination of
the proposed design to verify that the aircraft complies with airwor-
thiness standards and regulations, in short, all the things we expect
an aircraft to have to make it safe to fly in Canada.

In the case of a Canadian company manufacturing an aircraft or
an aeronautical product such as an engine, for instance, Transport
Canada is deemed the certifying authority. That means that state au-
thorities globally look to Canada to ensure the product meets the
high safety standards that we set.

This process is aligned with the recommended practice that the
International Civil Aviation Organization, commonly referred to as
ICAO, has set out in annex 8 of their convention, whereby states do
not perform the same in-depth determination of compliance that the
state of design has already completed. Instead, states may accept
the original certification or use it as the basis for validating the cer-
tification.

[Translation]

The certification of an aerospace product is not done overnight.
From the application date to the approval, the overall process takes
years. Transport Canada works closely with the manufacturer dur-
ing that period.

In examining past projects we can expect that the testing and
analysis phase takes approximately two or more years to complete.

[English]

As an example, Transport Canada's certification of the A220 air-
craft, formerly known as the Bombardier C Series 300 or 100, took
well over 150,000 person-hours to complete over multiple years.

When it comes to products that are not Canadian made, Trans-
port Canada's role consists of validating the certification decisions
made by the state of design—the home country of the manufactur-
er. This ensures that the aircraft or product is safe for use in Canada
and complies with our Canadian regulations and our own expecta-
tions.

Much like in the case when Canada is certifying a product, we
are looking at another major certifying authority, such as Europe's,
which is commonly referred to as EASA, the U.S. FAA, or Brazil's
ANAC, to lead in the review. In the case of the Boeing 737 Max,
the U.S. is the state of design of this aircraft. This means that the
Federal Aviation Administration, the FAA, is the certifying authori-
ty, and we and other states are validating that certification.

Now, I would like to speak more specifically to the two tragic ac-
cidents that took place involving the Boeing 737 Max aircraft.

First and foremost, Mr. Chair, our thoughts continue to go out to
the victims and the families of those who have been impacted by
the Lion Air and Ethiopian Airlines accidents. Canada is working
hard so that other families don't have to suffer through a similar
tragedy such as these.
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Transport Canada's actions related to the Boeing 737 Max air-
craft were first made in response to the October 2018 Lion Air acci-
dent. Following that tragedy, Canada developed and implemented,
in strong collaboration with our three Canadian operators that fly
the Max, which are Air Canada, Sunwing and WestJet, enhanced
training requirements for pilots, which exceeded the standards im-
plemented by the American AD and other countries.

® (1535)

These standards were intended to address the runaway trim stabi-
lizer condition that has been identified as a contributing factor in
the Lion Air accident and discussed widely in media reports. This
was on top of the actions the U.S. undertook as the state of design,
and Canada was the only country to put these additional measures
in place.

Following the Ethiopian Airlines accident that occurred on
March 10, 2019, Transport Canada officials immediately began to
assess the risks and the need for additional actions beyond those al-
ready taken globally, as well as those taken independently in
Canada. Upon receiving and analyzing new satellite data, the de-
partment made the determination to close Canadian airspace to the
aircraft, the Boeing 737 Max, commencing on March 13, 2019. We
received that new data that same morning.

This action demonstrates that Canada makes evidence-based de-
cisions and that we do not hesitate to take action when safety issues
are identified. Transport Canada is continuing its independent re-
view and validation of the Boeing 737 Max changes while we con-
tinue to work extensively with the state of design and civil aviation
authorities in Europe and Brazil and across the globe to realize a
possible global return to service of this aircraft. To that end, Canada
is taking a leadership role with international authorities to address
all factors necessary to achieve a safe return to service. The scope
of our review and our concerns have been communicated to the
FAA, and Transport Canada officials continue to seek information
and assurance on these points.

There are three key areas of concern for Transport Canada that
are broader than the maneuvering characteristics augmentation sys-
tem, commonly referred to as MCAS, which has been commonly
reported. These are acceptable levels of pilot workload, the flight
control system or architecture for the aircraft, and a minimum train-
ing requirement for crew members to operate this aircraft safely.

[Translation]

Until our questions and concerns are satisfactorily addressed,
Transport Canada will not lift the airspace restriction on this air-
craft.

Additionally, Canada joined the FAA, the National Aeronautics
and Space Administration, or NASA, and other civil airworthiness
authorities in conducting a comprehensive technical review of the
Boeing 737 MAX flight control system. On October 11, 2019, the
FAA published the Joint Authorities Technical Review's indepen-
dent report of the certification process of the aircraft, which in-
cludes recommendations brought forward by the review committee.

[English]

Our transportation experts continue to work tirelessly on the re-
view of this aircraft, and I am proud of the leadership they have
taken to date. Mr. Chair, allow me to assure you and the committee
that Transport Canada remains steadfast in its commitment that the
Boeing 737 Max will not be permitted to fly in Canada until all
concerns have been addressed by the manufacturer and the FAA,
and that adequate safety measures for flight crews are in place.

I trust that the foregoing information will serve to shed some
light on the aircraft certification process at large as well as on
Transport Canada's involvement in the ongoing Boeing 737 Max
review. We look forward today to addressing additional questions
the committee may have on either subject.

Thank you.
® (1540)
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Robinson.

Mr. Turnbull.

Mr. David Turnbull (Director, National Aircraft Certifica-
tion, Department of Transport): I have no opening remarks pre-
pared. I'm prepared to receive questions.

The Chair: Once again, thank you, gentlemen.
We are going to start off with the Conservatives.

Mrs. Block, you have six minutes.

Mrs. Kelly Block (Carlton Trail—Eagle Creek, CPC): Thank
you very much.

I didn't realize I was going to be asking questions first, but [ am
very grateful for the opportunity. It's good to be back at the trans-
portation committee table.

I want to thank our witnesses for their opening remarks.

I want to acknowledge that it's been less than 18 months since
the tragedy that claimed the lives of 189 people, as well as less than
12 months from the time of the tragedy that claimed the lives of
157 people. As you mentioned, our thoughts and prayers remain
with those families who have lost loved ones. Not only were they
left to grapple with their grief, but they were also left with far too
many questions, I think many of which still need to be answered as
the 737 Max remains grounded.

From your testimony, I think we see that there has been much
work done, and I am pleased that the transportation committee is
undertaking this study. It has agreed to adopt the motion that was
introduced in the last Parliament to this committee, but was blocked
by the members opposite, with absolutely no rationale given for
that.

This is a non-partisan issue and it is something that I think we all
agree on. We need to try to understand the process of certification
that takes place not only here in Canada but also with our partners
around the world when it comes to allowing other aircraft to serve
our country.
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You mentioned in your opening remarks that you had joined the
FAA, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration and other
civil airworthiness authorities in conducting a comprehensive tech-
nical review of the Boeing 737 Max flight control system, and that
independent report includes recommendations that were brought
forward.

Could you list those recommendations for us?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Mr. Chair, we could provide all of
those recommendations. There are a number of different recom-
mendations, 12, in the report, and we could provide you with those.
Those are public.

We are working with the other authorities globally to look at how
we may address those recommendations. We could provide those to
you.

Mrs. Kelly Block: Do you have the list of the those today?
Mr. David Turnbull: I could go over the top three.
Mrs. Kelly Block: That would be great.

Mr. David Turnbull: We'll provide the entire list. The JATR re-
port came out with 12 separate recommendations. Some of them
somewhat overlap the others, so I'll attempt to briefly describe them
at a high level.

The fist one relates to the application of what we call the
changed product rule, which is a regulation that deals with how we
determine the applicable standards to an aircraft that is changed or
modified. Some people use the term “derivative model” when you
have one existing model and you do a modification to create a new
model. This will happen successively over a number of years. In
the case of the 737, it has gone through numerous generations or re-
iterations of the design.

That recommendation speaks to the fact that we struggle interna-
tionally with a common interpretation or application of the rule.
Despite the fact that the rule has been completely harmonized and
from a regulatory perspective remains common between the various
authorities, it is the actual application of the rule that is sometimes
open to interpretation.

The basic gist of the issue is this. At what point, when you're
adding successive changes or additions to an aircraft, do you go
back and establish that you have to apply the newer standards and
also the newer interpretations of the standards or processes we use
that have been developed over time to evaluate the aircraft?

In the case of the 737, it's been alleged that the aircraft was de-
rived or added to in numerous cases, and yet in some cases the stan-
dards remained the older standards that were applicable to the pre-
vious derivatives, and that possibly the scope of the review, in the
context of evaluating the new changes, was not as wide as it should
be. That is an area which we already had on the table prior to these
accidents, actually; it's not a surprise to us at all that the changed
product rule is an area that will require further honing and interna-
tional harmonization.

The next one—and again, I'm boiling the 12 down to three
themes, just for brevity here—is the delegation systems, of course.
I'm sure you've heard discussions about that. One of the recommen-
dations speaks to another look at or another examination of the var-

ious delegation systems that exist. Do the authorities have sufficient
expertise and a sufficient degree of oversight into what these dele-
gated entities are doing? Also, are there enough systems and pro-
tections in place to avoid any undue pressure on these delegates,
who are employees of the company?

The third theme speaks to what we call development assurance
practices. It links back to the changed product rule topic to some
extent. As aircraft have evolved in complexity, modern aircraft to-
day involve systems that are no longer separated. The term we use
is “federated”. They have systems that are typically driven by soft-
ware and are highly interactive. In other words, they speak to each
other.

In the old days, we used to go in and analyze discrete failures
that we could predetermine. In a modern, more complex aircraft,
we have to take what's called a design assurance approach, which
admits that we have to find a more systemic approach to evaluating
the failures and the consequences a little differently than we did in
the past, in order to keep up with the evolution in technology.

Part of the challenge with the changed product rule issues that
we acknowledge is that, arguably, as you introduce new technolo-
gies into an older design, you should perhaps migrate to a more
modern design assurance approach, where you look at not just the
area that has changed but at how that changed area affects the entire
aircraft as well. That's another area where design development as-
surance practices are well in place for a brand new or what we call
“clean sheet” airplane, but they may not necessarily be applied with
the same rigour when we're talking about a derivative of a pre-ex-
isting aircraft.

At a high level, those are the main hit points in the JATR report.
® (1545)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Turnbull.
Thank you, Ms. Block.

Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Churence Rogers (Bonavista—Burin—Trinity, Lib.):
Thank you, Mr. Chair, and welcome to our witnesses, Mr. Robinson
and Mr. Turnbull.

In light of these tragic events, of course, and these tragedies that
occurred with the Max 8, this is very challenging for all of us, as
Ms. Block said. It's something that weighs heavily on people's
minds when you try to discuss these kinds of issues. We're always
sensitive to the feelings of the families and the people who were
impacted by this kind of tragedy. Also, of course, for all of us, up-
permost in our minds is the safety of future flights should these air-
craft ever return to commercial flying.

I want to focus on the crash that took place in Ethiopia. [ have a
couple of questions around that one.

First of all, why did the minister want to see data from Aireon
before taking the decision to ground the Canadian fleet? Was there
a specific reason for that?
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Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Following the Ethiopian Airlines crash
on the Sunday, as part of our continuing airworthiness process, we
immediately began to collect information on what led to the crash.
What were the conditions when the flight was happening? What
happened to the flight? How far in their flight segment were they?
Did we have any sort of performance information on the aircraft?
We gained this information through talking with the state of design
authority, which is the FAA. They were gathering information from
Boeing. We were gathering information from where the accident
took place and any other sources of information we had.

This is part of a regular process that we do when an accident
happens. We try to gather as much information and then take a par-
ticular action if we feel that it's necessary.

We weren't specifically waiting for the Aireon data. In fact, Aire-
on data wasn't part of our toolbox that we used in looking at aircraft
accidents until Ethiopian 302. It's a relatively new available piece
of information.

I'll assure the committee, Mr. Chair, that it is actually something
we go to right away after accidents. I can point to the accident: the
downing of flight PS752 in Iran. That accident occurred in the
evening. We had the Aireon data in hand that morning because we
learned ways we can improve. We learn after each accident.

We received that Aireon data on March 13. Along with all the
other evidence we gathered, that was the piece of the puzzle that al-
lowed us to move forward without reservation and make the deter-
mination to close the airspace in Canada. Transport Canada made
the determination.

That information was so important because it showed—when we
looked at the Lion Air accident and the Ethiopian Airlines acci-
dent—clear performance similarities across the two accidents that
would have occurred only if there was a clear similarity of failure
there. That's why we made the determination at that point.

® (1550)

Mr. Churence Rogers: How unusual is it to have a catastrophic
problem with software, as appears to have happened in the case of
the Max 8? Has anything comparable ever happened again?

The other part of that is that you said in your statement that on
top of the actions the U.S. undertook as the state of design.... Then
you said that Canada was the only country to put additional mea-
sures in place. I find that a little perplexing. Why would that be the
case?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Mr. Chair, on the first question about
how usual is something like this catastrophic failure, it's not usual
at all. This is an exceptional case. We've been looking at this air-
craft and examining a possible safe return to service of this aircraft
for almost a year now. We continue to examine this. This is not usu-
al practice within our field.

Can you identify the second question again?

Mr. Churence Rogers: It was where you said that this was on
top of the actions the U.S. undertook as the state of design and
Canada was the only country to put additional measures in place.

What were these additional measures that you made reference
to?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Typically, the state of design will look
at the event that happened with an aircraft and propose a mitigation
measure based on their risk analysis and what they see needs to be
done to mitigate that risk.

The FAA proposed a mitigation measure through an AD, an air-
worthiness directive. States looked at that AD and accepted it.
That's the usual practice. Less usual is when a state will look and
say that they'll accept that AD, but that there's also something more
that they may wish to do.

Canada accepted that AD absolutely. We agreed with what the
FAA was putting forward, but we worked with our three Canadian
operators, Air Canada, Sunwing and Westlet, to further address the
issues we saw around ensuring that our aircrew had the appropriate
reaction time to this event and knew the appropriate procedures to
mitigate this runaway trim stabilizer procedure. We said we're go-
ing to make a change. Aircrew had to memorize all five steps to
mitigate that risk, as opposed to what was currently there, where
they would memorize—or they were told to memorize—two of
those five steps, and the other steps were available within the quick
reference handbook on the flight deck.

We put that measure in place on November 8, 2018. It was im-
plemented with all our airlines on November 9, 2018, about a week
and a couple of days following the Lion Air accident.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Barsalou-Duval.
[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval (Pierre-Boucher—Les Patri-
otes—Verchéres, BQ): Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

1 quite liked the information you presented. I see that you are
taking the Boeing 737 MAX 8 situation seriously. It can be reassur-
ing to people to know that you take the accidents seriously. You are
doing reviews. You are analyzing information that has been gath-
ered. You will not lift the restrictions before you are sure there are
no other problems. That is very good, very positive.

However, I wonder if the problem is much bigger than the Boe-
ing 737 MAX 8. I did a bit of research and found that Transport
Canada's certification work relied heavily on a kind of mutual
recognition of work that is done here and there. Transport Canada
looks at work that has been done in the United States, work that the
Federal Aviation Administration, the FAA, is doing. A lot of the
certification work done by the FAA is recognized.

1 wonder, given the incident with the Boeing 737 MAX 8, if that
close collaboration and recognition of the work done by the FAA
will be reconsidered? Does this raise any questions about the certi-
fication that is done here?

® (1555)

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: It is a bit difficult for me to answer that
question in my second language. Allow me to respond in English.
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[English]

The validation process is fully independent of what the state of
design does with regard to their certification, and it allows us for a
continuum of involvement. We can choose, depending on how a
state of design certifies. When we look at that certification, we can
feel fairly assured with the information that's being presented to us.
We can have a minimal level of involvement if we see there is very
little risk that we've determined as part of that certification. On the
other end, it also permits us to have a very significant involvement
in validating the work of that state of design. A perfect example of
that is the ongoing work of the 737 Max right now. We've chosen,
as a validating state, to conduct our own flight test, as opposed to
observing or taking the information from the FAA's flight test. We
have chosen to observe or actively participate in a number of the
different testing phases, as well as looking in more detail at a num-
ber of different envelopes within the certification process that the
FAA 1is undertaking.

That's what this process allows us. The process itself does allow
for the flexibility of the validating state to determine how involved
it wants to be.

[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: In short, you are essentially saying
that you generally have the latitude to choose whether to rely on the
information provided by the authorities of the state of design or to
run your own tests. That is the current operating practice. Some-
times, when you consider the case to be too risky, you conduct fur-
ther research, but sometimes you rely on the information provided
by the state of design.

Does that sum up what you were saying?
Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Yes, we have that latitude.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Okay. You have the latitude to ask
questions.

However, if I understand correctly, there is a multilateral recog-
nition plan between Brazil, the European Union, Canada and the
United States to accelerate the accreditation process and, I imagine,
for that recognition to be applied automatically from one country to
another.

In the Boeing 737 MAX situation, the FAA, which does not have
enough staff to conduct accreditation research, disclosed that it con-
tracted Boeing to certify its own planes. I find that rather surpris-
ing. Is that approach something we agree on? Does this approach
cast doubt on the process currently in place?

Mr. David Turnbull: Generally speaking, we do what is neces-
sary.
[English]

The ongoing development of the bilateral agreements is based on
a fundamental understanding that we recognize through experience
that although we may have differences in interpretation, the net re-
sults yield an equivalent level of safety. That's the foundation of it.

Our foundation with the FAA and our bilateral agreements go all
the way back to 1938. Things will happen and things have hap-
pened, incidents that have caused concern and that have caused us

to ask these very valuable questions, but the principle of relying on
our international partners is fundamental to the way we operate.

As Nick explained, we don't have to throw out the process we
have right now. It is scalable. Think of it as a volume button. When
things like this happen, we can turn the volume up; we can increase
our involvement. When we're investigating an approval, as we are
currently with the 737 Max 8, we are, of course, continuing to fol-
low the FAA's lead. They must certify. They must present that
which they will accept from Boeing. They are the certifying author-
ity. We will follow, but in following, in many cases, we are talking
directly to Boeing. FAA is always in the room. We have the oppor-
tunity to maybe get around those concerns, to not be as directly
concerned about the degree to which the FAA was directly cog-
nizant of what Boeing is doing or has done and rather to go directly
to the source, to an appropriate degree, to find out for ourselves.

That's why I'm quite confident in saying yes, we rely on our bi-
lateral partners. Yes, we have faith and trust in the FAA, but we will
investigate independently to determine and validate. It's trust and
verify.

® (1600)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Turnbull.

Thank you, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.
Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: It's already over?

The Chair: It goes fast.

Mr. Bachrach.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach (Skeena—Bulkley Valley, NDP): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Turnbull, for appearing before
the committee today.

I'd like to follow on my colleague's question on the validation
process.

On November 19, 2018, after the Lion Air crash, Transport
Canada and the FAA signed the “Validation Improvement
Roadmap”, as you know, which expressed a vision that both author-
ities are committed to taking progressive steps to reduce, if not
eliminate in-depth technical involvement by the validating authori-
ty based on level of risk.

I'm curious. Does Transport Canada intend to continue with this
road map towards harmonization in light of these events?

Was it a mistake to sign on to this agreement at a time when con-
cerns about the safety of the 737 Max were already being ex-
pressed?
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Mr. Nicholas Robinson: We did sign that agreement, as you
mentioned, on November 19. That doesn't preclude—and I have to
stress this—the independence of our decision-making. Where we
identify a risk, where we are uncertain of the certification process
that the state of design, whether it be the FAA, EASA or ANAC
has undertaken, or where we want to further expand our knowledge
or understanding of how they feel this aircraft complies with a
common set of standards that we expect all aircraft to have in order
to operate safely globally, we still have that right to turn up the vol-
ume, as my colleague Dave said, or further expand our review of
that.

That improvement map allows us to continue to work to under-
stand where we have similarities, where we have commonalities or,
where we don't have commonalities, how we can actually have pro-
cesses that are more common to allow us to certify an aircraft more
consistently.

Mr. David Turnbull: If I may add to that, I think it's important
to recognize that “Validation Improvement Roadmap” as a work in
progress. I have—I'll be completely honest—stated my concerns
with the objective that you just read as it is stated. A big part of my
job is not only to ensure that the minimum safety standards are met
for everything that I sign off on in Canada but also to make sure
that there is a level playing field amongst the various manufactur-
ers. It's a highly competitive business. Certification costs a lot of
money. For every decision that we may make to say, “No, manufac-
turer, you have to do one better or you have to do one more test,” I
have to consider whether that is a fair and level approach vis-a-vis
how the other authorities treat their manufacturers.

If we were to, as that phrase states, move to complete reciprocity
on all products, we would lose the ability to calibrate those deci-
sions against what those other authorities are doing. I believe that's
a very important element. That said, there are certain categories of
products we have already today for which we have direct reci-
procity with no review. That's done on a risk basis. It's not done for
large transport aircraft such as the Boeing 737. Personally, I don't
think it will ever get there. It's simply an evolution of the degree to
which we can rely on, if we choose to, the work of the other author-
ities.
® (1605)

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Thank you for that response.

I'm curious as to what extent the certification process with these
other aviation authorities was audited before Transport Canada
signed on to the harmonization agreements.

Could you speak to that a little bit?

Mr. David Turnbull: Before we sign any of those agreements,
there is a review.

With regard to the case in point, the one we're working on with
Brazil right now, it involved a team going to evaluate their systems
and processes to see if they are sufficiently equivalent. However,
it's not just that; it's also experience. It would be very unusual for us
to establish a full BASA, bilateral aviation safety agreement, with a
country that had just come to the table and had not been in the busi-
ness of producing that product type for some time.

It takes time and experience to learn how to build aircraft, design
aircraft, and also, from the authority's perspective, to certify them.
That is why we are deliberately cautious in entering into agree-
ments with some of the newer players. They have to build that ex-
perience to establish their credibility to a certain extent.

The Chair: Thank you.
We're now going into the second round.

First on the docket is Mr. Baldinelli.

Mr. Tony Baldinelli (Niagara Falls, CPC): Thank you, Chair.
Congratulations on your election.

Thank you to the witnesses for appearing.
This is my first opportunity to ask some questions.

I want to build on a comment from my colleague opposite, who
talked about the certification management team. I guess the CMT
was also hoping to reach a level of policy alignment and confidence
for each authority to fully accept certification by the other three na-
tions that are participating, without the need to conduct additional
technical assessments.

Because of the accident, has this policy changed this, or are we
continuing to advance that policy goal?

Mr. David Turnbull: In many respects, what we're seeing in the
changes to the agreements are in the subordinate procedural docu-
ments that define how we interact. It's not just about reducing in-
volvement; it's about improving and refining the process to make it
more efficient.

I'll give you an example. When we go to validate an aircraft—
and this works in both directions—we don't want somebody com-
ing in and asking questions with a never-ending list. We're working
towards what we call a work plan concept, where the validating au-
thority assesses the new areas, the areas of risk, the areas where we
may have struggled in our own certifications and there's a similar
piece of technology in that other aircraft. We will define a work
plan that defines in advance the exact areas we will look into, im-
plying that with regard to other areas, we will totally rely on the
other manufacturer.

That's an example of a process refinement that is more efficient
and yet maintains a sufficient mutual knowledge of what each other
is doing to maintain that level playing field concept that I described
earlier.

1 don't want you all to be left with the impression that because
we're advancing these agreements, it is necessarily driving us to be-
ing forced to having mutual acceptance without review. That's not
necessarily where this is going. There's a lot more to it.

Mr. Tony Baldinelli: Okay, thank you.



February 25, 2020

TRAN-03 7

Next, in terms of the operational evaluation report for the 737
Max, which was conducted I believe on November 30, 2017, my
understanding is that the OER outlines in some detail the technical
differences between the 737 Max and some of the older models that
have a lengthy and proven track record. However, it's this section
on operational suitability that is extremely brief. It simply notes
that the aircraft in general is operationally suitable for private oper-
ators and airlines under the Canadian aviation regulations.

Why is that? Were there not difficulties or technical issues to be
addressed or indicated, including advanced pilot training, for exam-
ple?

Mr. David Turnbull: Let me back up a bit and explain what the
operational evaluation does for you.

At each change to an aircraft design and, in this case, stepping
from what we call the NG version, or the previous generation to the
Max, the manufacturer will propose a training program that
bridges, from the pilot's perspective, the knowledge and awareness
they have to operate the aircraft from one model to the next.

The OE, in its simplest form, is a joint board that evaluates the
appropriateness of that training material to get a pilot who has
flown the NG to fly on the Max. It's as simple as that. If the OE
board determines that the training proposed is sufficient, then the
conclusion is that it is operationally suitable.

If there are issues when the evaluators go through the process....
There are always naive candidates who are selected. We try not to
get people in there who have predisposed knowledge or are biased
in any way. We're putting regular, average line pilots in there. They
do the evaluation. If there are issues, if they struggle and are failing
on the simulator, that is a clear indication that the training proposed
by the manufacturer is not sufficient, and there will be an iterative
process to improve the training.

® (1610)
Mr. Tony Baldinelli: Thank you for your response.

Just as a follow-up based on that, you mentioned the three addi-
tional concerns that you expressed to the FAA—flight control sys-
tems, minimum training, hours worked. Will they be expressed in
any way in that OER?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Yes. The joint operational evaluation
board will review the minimum training requirements for flight
crews. As part of that, and to ensure that we truly do have a strong
representation of Canadian aircrews who will be flying those air-
craft, we are working with the three Canadian operators as well as
the three pilot associations that represent the pilots of those three
Canadian operators. They have committed to sending two of their
representatives, along with Transport Canada representatives, to
that JOEB process, that OE process, to ensure that the training
that's being proposed is adequate enough for the crews operating in
Canada to appropriately operate those aircraft.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Baldinelli.
Mr. El-Khoury.

[Translation]

Mr. Faycal El-Khoury (Laval—Les fles, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Thank you for being here Mr. Robinson and Mr. Turnbull. I
would say that this is a good opportunity to hear from you and get
an idea of the efforts you are making to ensure passenger safety.

My question is for you, Mr. Robinson. Could you tell us more
about the measures brought in place by Transport Canada after the
first Boeing crash in Indonesia? Could you also tell us how long it
took following the crash in Indonesia for Transport Canada to put
those measures in place?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Thank you for the question.

[English]

Following the Lion Air crash that took place on October 29,
2018, we were examining that accident with the state of design, the
FAA. The FAA issued their measure on November 7. They issued
an AD, an airworthiness directive, which was adopted by Canada as
well as globally.

On November 8, 10 days after the accident, we issued our own
changes, in working with the three Canadian operators, to the quick
reference handbook, and to ensure that our aircrews were memoriz-
ing the full five-step procedure to address the runaway trim stabiliz-
er condition. Those were the additional measures Canada put in
place, on top of what was adopted globally as issued by the FAA.
Our measures were additional. Those were implemented within two
weeks after the accident.

[Translation]

Mr. Faycal El-Khoury: Thank you.

And now my second question: is there a difference between the
measures taken by the FAA and those taken by the other authori-
ties? Did Boeing and Transport Canada have any concerns about
these measures and if so, what were they?

What was Transport Canada's reaction, Mr. Robinson?

[English]

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: When we implemented those measures,
as part of common practice, we informed the FAA that our opera-
tors were making these additional changes. It wasn't a request; it
was information that we were moving forward on that. We received
word back from the FAA later on that they acknowledged those
changes. There was no negative reaction against any of those
changes that we made.
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I have to also emphasize that this was in full collaboration with
our three Canadian operators. This was a joint effort. It wasn't
Transport Canada unilaterally making these changes. This was
working with our operators and recognizing that there was a poten-
tial additional measure we could put in place to assure the safety of
those flying in Canada and on Canadian-operated aircraft.

® (1615)
[Translation]

Mr. Faycal El-Khoury: Mr. Robinson, do you believe that these
additional measures, such as training, might have prevented a crash
like the one that happened in Ethiopia? If so, to what extent? To
what degree of certainty are you convinced?

[English]

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Désolé, 1 can't say with any confidence
that this would have prevented that Ethiopian accident. First, the
Ethiopian Airlines Flight 302 investigative report has not been re-
leased yet, so we still have things to learn with regard to this acci-
dent. We still have more to garner from here. We won't know
whether the crew operating that aircraft used that unique Canadian
procedure and could have recovered from what they were experi-
encing. That's something we won't be able to determine.

What we do know is that this measure helped to reduce.... By
memorizing those procedures, what we were doing was decreasing
the reaction time for crews on Canadian-operated aircraft to recog-
nize and respond to this sort of event happening in the flight deck,
and that may have or would have helped them prevent that sort of
issue from escalating.

I'd be in no position to determine if that would have prevented
the Ethiopian Airlines accident.

Mr. Faycal El-Khoury: There is a big difference between “pre-
vent” and “reduce”. What would you tell us?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: To prevent or reduce?
Mr. Faycal El-Khoury: Yes. You mentioned both words.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: That measure reduced the reaction time
of Canadian aircrews in recognizing a runaway trim stabilizer con-
dition. It allowed the groundwork to reduce that reaction time.
Thankfully, between the Lion Air accident and the Ethiopian Air-
lines accident, we didn't have any of those events happen in
Canada, so we didn't have a real-life test of what those measures
might have done on a Canadian flight deck.

Mr. Faycal ElI-Khoury: Then we can be confident that the effort
of Transport Canada can prevent such an accident.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: I would say no. I would not say that
this could have absolutely prevented one.

What we were doing was addressing a safety risk that we saw
and identifying a way that we believed could reduce the reaction
time of air crew and could help them address that situation. I don't
think any measure you could put in place could say absolutely that
an aircrew would be able to respond.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Robinson and Mr. El-Khoury.
Mr. Davidson.

Mr. Scot Davidson (York—Simcoe, CPC): I want to talk about
the airplane itself.

You were talking about the NG, so let's assume I'm a pilot flying
a 400, a 600 or an 800 Boeing aircraft. They all have their little dif-
ferent challenges that they each pose. Let's say you're flying an 800.
It's got the big spoiler at the back in case there's a tail strike. Pilots
are aware of going from a 400 to an 800, and the possibility of a tail
strike is always in the back of your mind on takeoff. If I was all of a
sudden put in a Max—and I'm allowed to fly the Max if I can fly an
800—some things are different in that airplane. I wondered why
Transport Canada didn't ask beforehand for a separate type rating
on that aircraft, so you'd have to be checked out and be current on a
Max, as compared to the NG. This is just due to the fact that the
cockpit has changed a little bit, and I think you have a different
glass set up in the Max, do you not, where you have emergency
lights that come off over where the engine gauges are, as op-
posed—

® (1620)

Mr. David Turnbull: There are some very discrete changes, but
I wouldn't characterize it as a result—

Mr. Scot Davidson: I'm just questioning whether they were ma-
jor changes in moving forward and if pilots should have been
checked out on that aircraft in particular, instead of just the 800,
when they make that jump. I don't know how different that aircraft
is. Let's say if I'm in autopilot climbing through 15,000 feet, and I
want to hand-fly it and I shut the autopilot off. The automatic trim,
when you want to hand-fly it, is a little bit different from the 800, is
it not?

Mr. David Turnbull: That is the basic purpose of the OE. As |
said in response to one of the previous questions, you take the train-
ing material that is intended to bridge the gap between one and the
other, and whatever those differences may be—be they how cockpit
indications are displayed, the handling characteristics or whatever
may be different between the two aircraft—that is the purpose of
the delta training to make sure it bridges that gap. The conclusion
of the OE is that this training was sufficient; therefore, the conclu-
sion is it's operationally suitable. That's it.

Mr. Scot Davidson: I just wondered why, from when those inci-
dents happened, no one looked back to when the first accident hap-
pened and.... Maybe we're looking at more than just shutting off the
automatic trim. Maybe there's a cockpit question coupled with fa-
tigue or with someone who has flown this aircraft only three times
compared to 600. I'm wondering about those questions.
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Mr. David Turnbull: I understand your question better now. In
fact, it was mentioned earlier by one of our esteemed members that
it was a software failure. Actually, it wasn't, and most aircraft acci-
dents are a combination of various things.

In terms of one of the things we've learned and one of the things
we questioned very early on—and I think this is more to your
point—it's that given what we now understand and that we didn't as
well as we should have, perhaps, about the MCAS, that system, its
failure modes and the resulting effects in the cockpit with an AOA
disconnect, an angle of attack indicator disconnect, what we've
learned from there has implications with respect to the design itself,
the basic architecture, but also with respect to whether the training
was indeed sufficient.

In other words, were the changes between, in this case, the NG
and the Max, adequately reflected in the training material? You see,
the key to all of this is that the training material in the OE is a direct
result of the design. It's not the other way around. You design the
airplane, it has functionality, and you create training material that
reflects the design. If there are aspects of the design that are not
sufficiently covered by the training material, that may be what
comes out of this.

Mr. Scot Davidson: In your professional opinion, do you believe
that this aircraft should deserve a type certificate on your licence?
Obviously, if I fly an 800 Boeing, I can't fly a 321 Airbus.

Mr. David Turnbull: Not necessarily.
Mr. Scot Davidson: Okay, not necessarily—

Mr. David Turnbull: But I do believe and understand—and this
is part of the ongoing process that we're on right now—that not on-
ly is the aircraft being redesigned, I'll say, or that the problem areas
deemed to be problematic are being addressed through software
changes, a big part of it is a reflection of what we've learned in the
training material.

Transport Canada has been a huge proponent right from the be-
ginning—and I believe our own minister stated it publicly early on
that he was a big fan—of full flight simulator training. Lo and be-
hold, about two or three weeks ago, Boeing finally came out and
said, “We're doing it.” It was a huge relief to us. We had been push-
ing for that from the beginning of our review—

Mr. Scot Davidson: Okay. Well, I'm not—
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davidson.

Ms. Jaczek.

Ms. Helena Jaczek (Markham—Stouffville, Lib.): Thank you,
Chair, and thank you to our witnesses for coming today.

I think we all agree that an ounce of prevention is worth a pound
of cure. As Ms. Block said, our job here is really to probe as much
as we can in terms of how going forward, hopefully, we can avoid
this type of tragedy happening again.

Following on the conversation that we've already had this after-
noon, I'd like to understand better, in terms of the validation pro-
cess, to what extent you involve pilots and their feedback. You ob-
viously use pilots and so on. If we could go back to before the first
crash, what kinds of conversations does Transport Canada have in

terms of listening to the pilots about their experiences and incorpo-
rating additional requirements through that validation process?

® (1625)

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: We spoke about the JOEB process.
That's where we have line pilots taking the training and evaluating
it. Their results are telling us whether the training is adequate
enough.

What we haven't spoken about is that we also have a great num-
ber of pilots in our own program. We have pilots as part of our na-
tional aircraft certification group who do test flights and participate
in the certification process along with flying the aircraft or develop-
ing work plans with regard to the certification of the aircraft. We
have our own inspectors as well, many of them pilots, who will be
part of that JOEB process as well and will be looking at those air-
craft manuals and mitigation procedures for evaluation. In a real-
life scenario, are they going to work, are they workable? Pilots are
a part of the regular process.

I want to specifically mention a bit of a difference that we also
have in this process. There's been a great deal of review with regard
to the Boeing 737 Max. At the beginning, we said that this wasn't a
process where we were going to have Transport Canada focus and
work with other authorities in our bilateral arrangements and let our
Canadian authorities know what the outcomes were. From the be-
ginning, the three operators who operate the Max as well as those
three associations that have pilots operating the Max in Canada
have been part of the process. They've been feeding us their input
and feedback as part of the process. They're very interested, of
course, as many of their livelihoods are tied to the Max, and they
want to see how the validation process is proceeding, so we've been
working with them on a regular basis. We often meet with our oper-
ators on a weekly basis to tell them how we're progressing. A lot of
those individuals are pilots themselves, and many of them are typed
on this aircraft and work with the aircrew associations to let them
know the process.
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They've had some questions. They've been briefed by Boeing
and other authorities on the process. They've come to us and said,
“I want to understand this particular mitigation procedure that
you're exploring. I don't understand why Canada is looking or why
we have an issue, and we want a different mitigation procedure. We
think there's an issue here.” What we've done is taken those oppor-
tunities to sit down with them. We've reviewed all the things we
have found and said this is what has led us to say that we're going
to take a leadership role and demand that the FAA and others look
at particular incidents that we see that need to be addressed. In
many cases that's been very beneficial.

I hope that the committee may have some opportunity to speak to
those Canadian operators as well as those Canadian associations to
hear their involvement in this process, because they've been very
much involved.

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Prior to the first accident, you were getting
feedback. I know hindsight is 20/20, but you felt assured at that
particular time that the training was sufficient and that mitigation
measures were understood in terms of this new software.

Can you assure us of that?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: I will say that we now have a much
greater understanding of some of the key concerns with this air-
craft. At the time we validated this aircraft, at the time that JOEB
process was completed, we looked at our process, and we validated
that aircraft. There was no particular pressure that we were under to
validate that aircraft. We felt that the aircraft was safe to fly in
Canada. There would have been absolutely no instance where we
would have approved that aircraft to fly in Canada if we did not
feel that it met and complied with what we expected an aircraft to
have.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Jaczek.

Mr. Barsalou-Duval.
[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
My question is for you, Mr. Robinson.

The first accident occurred on October 29, 2018, and the second
on March 10, 2019. I think the public started to become quite con-
cerned after the second accident since the first could have been a
simple mistake.

In the wake of these incidents, in an article in La Presse in May
2019, you said, “We have full confidence in the FAA and its pro-
cess”. Shortly thereafter, there was a lot of international news, in-
cluding at Agence France-Presse and elsewhere.

In September 2019, Agence France-Presse reported that it was
Boeing employees who inspected the MCAS anti-stall system in
question in the accidents. We also learned that since 2016, under a
new procedure referred to as ODA, Boeing selected the engineers
who inspected its own planes and the FAA simply provided the seal
of approval.

In February 2020, a former technical director who worked for the
company for 30 years, said the company did as much work for as
little money and as quickly as possible to get its planes in the air.

In the meantime, are you still as confident in the FAA's certifica-
tion process?

® (1630)

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Thank you for your question.

[English]

I do have confidence in the certification process that is outlined
in annex 8 of ICAQO's convention whereby the state of design is re-
sponsible for certifying the aircraft and other authorities are validat-
ing that aircraft.

[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I think you answered my question.
I have another for you.

Many people in the general public are currently scared to board a
Boeing 737. Personally, I think that plane poses some risks, for now
at least. There may be other Boeing planes that pose risks consider-
ing that since 2005, Boeing employees are the ones who have been
certifying the planes built by their own company in the United
States.

I am an accountant by training. I am not an aerospace expert.
However, when I was working in an accounting office as an audi-
tor, my role was to audit businesses based on the level of risk. My
role also consisted of conducting tests to determine whether the fig-
ures presented by the business corresponded to reality in order to
ensure that the shareholders, bankers and lenders were not being
misinformed when it came time to making financial decisions. To
some extent, the FAA's certification role being not unlike the role
of an accounting firm. As such, are you going to increase oversight
of FAA certified planes from Boeing or any other U.S. company?
The public has concerns.

[English]

The Chair: You have 30 seconds, Mr. Robinson.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Absolutely. I think a perfect example is
the work that we're doing with the 737 Max right now. We've
grown the amount of involvement that we have—

[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: You are talking about planes in
general.
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[English]

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Absolutely, but this is the plane that we
are validating with the FAA right now, and what we've done is
grow the process. We're involved in multiple stages of the testing
process. We're asking questions, and we're asking for additional in-
formation with regard to this process. This will be reflective of our
risk assessments, as you mentioned, as an auditor, ensuring that we
will be looking at this when we're engaging with the FAA on other
certification projects and making sure that we're addressing all the
areas of risk that we identify. Where we do identify areas of risk,
we will be involving ourselves in order to—to refer to another com-
mittee member—be able to say with confidence that this plane is
safe to fly in Canada.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Robinson.

Mr. Bachrach, you have two and a half minutes.
Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

At the hearings in the United States, there were emails revealed
through whistle-blowers which showed that Boeing was aware of
the safety risks of the MCAS anti-stall system and failed to disclose
the significance of those risks to the regulators. Do you believe that
Boeing misled the FAA and the airlines concerning the safety of the
737 Max?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: I'm not going to speak specifically to
the relationship between a U.S. manufacturer and the U.S. authority
that's working with that, but what I will speak to is this.

The first question that we had from this committee was with re-
gard to the JATR report and the 12 recommendations that have
come out. The members of that review board were all the certifica-
tion management team partners that have been referenced, and what
we've all committed to is to look at those recommendations. The
FAA will lead—and I give credit to the FAA for conducting this
JATR review—and we'll be looking at ensuring that those recom-
mendations are addressed and that actions are taken. The informa-
tion that's come out about the relationship between the authority
and the manufacturer will also be something that we'll keep in mind
as we do a risk assessment on the areas of involvement that we
want to have with regard to the validation of a project.

® (1635)
The Chair: Mr. Bachrach.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: I have a quick follow-up question that
gets back to the validation process and what's driving the rationale
behind the harmonization of these certification processes.

You mentioned earlier that this is a very costly process for the
manufacturers to go through. My concern is that cost is in some
way a factor in striving towards harmonization and towards valida-
tion versus certification. Can you speak about the core rationale be-
hind the harmonization road map?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: First and foremost, let me assure this
committee that safety is of the utmost importance and our number
one priority. Transport Canada is to ensure the safety of Canadians
travelling. Safety is our driver. That's why we have a very clear,
stringent set of rules and areas of compliance that we're going to re-
quire all aircraft to meet prior to operation in Canada. What these
rules allow us to do, though, is to review and ensure that products

as well as aircraft reach and allow Canadians to benefit from these
products in a more streamlined fashion.

If we share a common set of expertise on an avionics system, as
we do with our counterparts in EASA, and EASA has done the
software on it and has clearly said that this system works in this air-
craft, and we understand the process that EASA takes and the
meticulous methods they have in place, then there is no benefit for
us to do the exact same set of testing. We know what EASA does
and their stringent set of compliance rules, so we would say, “No,
we don't see a risk here; we'll focus on where we see risk.”

Does that benefit the industry and the manufacturers? Absolute-
ly. They will be able to access markets more readily than if every
single state was to certify their product. But that benefit does not
supersede safety, which is our number one priority. That's why it
doesn't matter; if there is a remote question of it not meeting the
safety standard that we expect, that aircraft doesn't get validated in
Canada, not until it meets that.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Bachrach.

Mr. Baldinelli.

Mr. Tony Baldinelli: Thank you, Chair.

Again, thank you, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Turnbull, for being here
as we seek to rebuild some confidence in our oversight systems and
to provide some answers to the families. I have three quick ques-
tions.

Mr. Turnbull, this is with regard to what you and Mr. Davidson
are undertaking with the OER and the technical requirements and
training manuals that are required for pilots when you're doing the
OER. When you're presenting that document to the public, in terms
of transparency in the OER report that's published, does the public
get that detailed background, or are they able to see that these are
the requirements we're asking?

Mr. David Turnbull: With regard to the purpose of the report,
once it's approved, it goes out as the recommended set of training
that the operators will adopt. The actual training program for an air-
line, if we're talking about large aircraft, is approved at the local
level, depending; there are a lot of unique situations within an air-
line. The way they choose to operate the aircraft may cause or ne-
cessitate slight changes to the training material. That is the baseline
that's handed out to the airlines. It's not meant to be a public docu-
ment. It's meant to go to the airlines and their local authority to de-
termine what will be the training program for that airline.

Mr. Tony Baldinelli: As you undertake your examinations and
your studies, you're dealing with companies as well as the other
oversight bodies, nationally and internationally. In terms of the
oversight and the examinations, do airline pilots and their associa-
tions play any part in this certification process? Do they have any
ability to comment?
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Mr. David Turnbull: They don't on the certification process it-
self. As [ mentioned earlier, the certification of the design, the type
design, as we call it, is carried out through a certification process.
The OE is a separate and subsequent step. Once you've got your de-
sign and the functionality is there, the cockpit does what it does.
The aircraft flight manual, which is part of the approved type de-
sign, explains and displays the basic procedures—warning systems,
non-normal procedures and everything. All of that information
from the flight manual goes into the training material. The design
comes first.

® (1640)

Mr. Tony Baldinelli: Do they have an opportunity to provide in-
put into that?

Mr. David Turnbull: At the training level, yes. I explained earli-
er the OE process with the naive candidates, which are sometimes
airline pilots, that are invited to take place. We typically do not in-
volve the operators directly in the certification process. That is a
communication between the applicant, or the designer of the air-
plane, and the certifying authority. The operations and the airlines
are generally kept out, to the extent where they may be inquiring
about the status. They're anxious to get their aircraft because they
want to enter service, but we typically don't involve them in the
technical certification issues that we're working on with the appli-
cant.

Mr. Tony Baldinelli: I have one last question, quickly.

In February, it was reported that on the 737 Max 8 jets, Boeing
had discovered fuel tanks containing debris in several of its aircraft.

Has that been reviewed, or is there any indication from Transport
Canada to our companies to examine that? Even though the fleets
are grounded, are they examining planes for that problem?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: This is the aircraft that were in Boeing
facilities waiting for distribution.

As part of the process, we're right now looking at the validation
of this aircraft for it to return to service. That will be a process that
we'll be looking to the FAA for, and asking how they are addressing
it in those facilities. We'll also be working with our operators to see
if they've seen any instances there. It's part of our continuing pro-
cess on the fleet itself.

However, from a certification perspective right now, it's not
something that we have focused on for the validation process.

Mr. David Turnbull: That's a result of a manufacturing issue as
opposed to a design issue, more than likely.

Mr. Tony Baldinelli: We can't say, for example, that it may be
an existing problem on those planes that are grounded now. We
don't know that.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: We'll be looking at our operators as
part of their inspection that will get this....

These aircraft have been sitting on the ground for 11 months. Pri-
or to their returning to service, the FAA will certify the design. We
will validate it. We will go through that JOEB process to determine
the training requirements. There will also be quite a significant
amount of preparation for getting these aircraft back into service
and back to airworthiness so that they can fly.

That's part of the reason—and I know there is a great deal of at-
tention on it—that we allowed many of our operators to ferry those
aircraft into parts of the U.S., warmer climates. They are not meant
to sit on the ground and not operate. They're not meant to not fly.

That will be part of the process for getting them back up—
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Baldinelli.

Mr. Sidhu.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu (Brampton East, Lib.): I'd like to start
off by thanking Mr. Robinson and Mr. Turnbull for their time and
their expertise. A lot of the members are thankful for your being
here today.

I'm trying to understand your perspective on the safety record as
a whole, especially with air travel in Canada. What measures do
you use and, in your opinion, what's the safety record on air travel?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Thank you. First let me speak to the
record.

Mr. Chair, I began my comments to the committee about Canada
having one of the safest aviation systems in the world, and we have
the data to prove it.

In 2018, we had 151 aviation accidents, which was down from
190 in 2017 and is a 29% decrease from the previous 10-year aver-
age. That's a trend we continue to see. The accident rate is in steady
decline, and we are proud of that record. We have a very, very low
accident record in Canada, with very minimal fatalities. There were
three 705—that's the large commercial aircraft category, the Air
Canadas, the Air Transat—accidents in 2018 with regard to those
aircraft.

That's the average we see over the 10-year span.

Mr. David Turnbull: And there were no fatalities.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: No fatalities. That's right.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: When you compare that to globally—

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Well, let me now respond as to why
that is the case. That's because we are continuously looking at im-
proving not only our certification standards and our validation stan-
dards, but also our safety standards overall.

That's why we propose additional regulations. We've moved for-
ward most recently on flight and duty time regulations to ensure
that aircrews are getting adequate rest in order to operate those air-
craft. That was a safety....

We're looking at moving forward in improving the runway and
safety area—that's the area at the top of and bottom of a runway—
to ensure that if by chance an aircraft, because of weather, because
of an operational incident, has to exit the runway, there is a certain
level of ground that is pre-prepared to allow that aircraft to exit so
it doesn't end up in a ravine and we have a horrible tragedy there.
We're continuing to look at that.
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It's not only the 705 operations, our large commercial operations,
we're also very proud of our general aviation safety campaign.
We've worked with the recreational operator and those associations
that represent the recreational operator: What are the risks to those
operators? What are the risks to those people who go down to their
local airport on a Saturday to fly their aircraft for pleasure? What
do they have to keep in mind in order to keep safe?

We take very seriously the Transportation Safety Board recom-
mendations that it puts forward after air accidents. We make sure
that we try to act on them as appropriately and in as timely a way as
possible to ensure, and to continue to ensure, safe Canadian avia-
tion.

® (1645)

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: I know that having to ground so many
planes presents operational challenges. Where do you store all these
planes, especially at the airports? Were there any safety concerns
that had to be considered before deciding to ground the Canadian
fleet, the Boeing?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Mr. Chair, just to clarify the question,
do you mean as a result of the grounding did we have to consider
other...? Okay.

Thank you for that question. In part to what I just responded to,
once these aircraft are grounded, should there be a return to service
of these aircraft, they do have to be ready and be maintained well
enough to resume flight. We worked with the three Canadian opera-
tors to devise a very clear mitigation strategy and a procedure, so
that if an operator wanted to move that aircraft—for routine mainte-
nance reasons or from storage to a warmer, more appropriate cli-
mate—first of all, when they were moving it, there was absolutely
no passenger content in it. As well, additional aircrew were avail-
able on the aircraft should an incident occur. Also, when they were
operating these aircraft, it was in appropriate conditions. We
weren't going to operate these aircraft in bad storms or weather
conditions. The routes we chose were the appropriate routes and
not high-traffic routes in case of an accident. Those were some of
the measures we had put in place.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Sidhu.
Thank you, Mr. Robinson.

Mr. Davidson.
Mr. Scot Davidson: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Just to keep going on that line of questioning, do we know where
all the Canadian registered airplanes are? Are they all now in a
warmer climate? | think some are still here, being pulled in and out
of hangars in the middle of the winter. I'm just saying that different
airplanes are going to have different challenges due to where
they've been stored.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: I could provide that information to you,
but I don't have it with me, and I wouldn't want to say anything
without assurance, because there are continual movements that we
approve. A company will either move an aircraft to one of its main-
tenance facilities or go back—

Mr. Scot Davidson: No, I've seen them pulled out of a hangar in
a snowstorm and put back in.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: That's right, but we do have knowledge
in view of where all the aircraft are, absolutely. We approve every
single ferry flight, which is what we call them, in Canada.

Mr. Scot Davidson: No, I'm saying, will there be guidelines,
Canadian guidelines, for an airplane that's been kept in Arizona as
opposed to one that's been kept in Toronto, outside, when it's recer-
tified, so they're stringent?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Absolutely, and that's also something
the manufacturer has committed to. We're talking about the certifi-
cation, the validation and the training portion of this. There will be
another portion that we will be looking at prior to a return to ser-
vice. There will have to be inspections and reviews. We will ensure
that the aircrews of those operators are trained, that they've re-
ceived whatever training we determine—the simulator training we
determine and the other training—and that the additional software
is uploaded onto the aircraft. We will see, if there are any physical
changes with the aircraft, that the minimum equipment lists are up
to date, and that the aircraft themselves are inspected around opera-
tions. As we said, aircraft aren't meant to be idle, so there will be a
full procedure to assure—

® (1650)
Mr. Scot Davidson: Corrosion can set in.

Mr. David Turnbull: It's my understanding that Boeing has de-
veloped an additional maintenance program specifically as a result
of this situation that was not there otherwise.

Mr. Scot Davidson: Just quickly, going back—and I don't re-
member exactly what you said—only because I'm looking at the
cockpit design, the Max has four screens and the 800 has five
screens. They are significantly different.

I'm just wondering, in training prior to these accidents, if Trans-
port Canada picked up on any of these differences. The HSI is in a
different spot. The flight tracker is in a different spot. We have
emergency warning horns in a different spot. We have trim that re-
sponds differently when I'm hand-flying it. The landing gear clicks
on a.... You know, an airplane feels different to every pilot. You
don't hear the landing gear on the Max. There are a lot of signifi-
cant differences.

I'm back to why no one asked for it to have a type rating, and
why no one would want an extra rating for it now. Are they asking
for that? I'm just wondering where that's going.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Also, though, to your point, that goes
back to—and I know we continue to come back to this—the opera-
tional evaluation board. When we had those aircrews, those regular
line pilots who were in there and they were evaluating, they had re-
ceived their computer-based training. They took that and they went
into the simulator. They weren't identifying, “Oh, gee, there are five
screens here”, or “I'm used to five screens and now there are four.”
We took them through the procedures, and that joint operational
evaluation board came back and said that this training was suffi-
cient.



14 TRAN-03

February 25, 2020

That's what we expect. That's why we have the line pilots in-
volved in that sort of training, to get first-hand their reaction. If we
saw instances of their saying, “Listen, I don't know what screen I'm
going to look at right now because it's entirely different from what
I'm used to”, then that would have been a different conclusion of
that JOEB.

Mr. Scot Davidson: I'm confident in the FAA. I'm just saying
that...for the general public to have the ultimate trust in the system,
would Transport Canada recommend a type certificate on the 737
Max 8 when it comes back into service? Would that be something
Transport Canada would suggest to the FAA, as a bare minimum to
restore confidence in the aircraft?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Mr. Chair, [ appreciate that point.
That's one of the pieces for why we have, on a bit of an exceptional
basis in this case, involved Canadian operators and the associations
of the flight crews in Canada more in this process. If we are—and
there is an “if” here—to come into a return to service of this air-
craft, we've involved our Canadian operators and those associations
so that we may go in force to the Canadian public saying, “This
was my participation. This is why I'm confident, but I have an asso-
ciation next to me and this is why I'm confident”—

Mr. Scot Davidson: Just to add to that, Air Canada only has the
737 Max 8, correct? It wouldn't affect them, like it would WestJet.

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: It wouldn't, but the other two fly differ-
ent ones.

Mr. Scot Davidson: Different ones.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davidson.

Mr. Bittle.
Mr. Chris Bittle (St. Catharines, Lib.): Thank you so much.

How does Canada benefit from the current international system
of air certification?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: Canada benefits in so far as we are able
to have a certain degree of confidence in various parts of the certifi-
cation process by our three other key CMT members. We benefit in
a reduced need. The certification system isn't a Canadian benefit;
the benefit is at large.

To a degree, we benefit because we aren't certifying every single
aeronautical product or aircraft that's being used in Canada. Those
are numerous. That's a benefit that all of the system appreciates.

We spoke to safety being the number one priority for Transport
Canada. The other benefit is that our very strong and safe aeronau-
tical products and aircraft that we produce have greater access to
global markets because people look at Canada as a certification
leader. They look at our national aircraft certification groups as
leaders in certification. When we say we certified an aircraft, like
the Airbus 220, which we've just certified, they know the rigour
and the standards that we apply to that. That's why it can access
markets in a greater fashion.

® (1655)

Mr. Chris Bittle: I've heard some suggest that we should certify
all planes for the Canadian market. I look to constituents of mine
who work, for example, at Airbus Helicopters in Fort Erie, and |

looked across to colleagues from Quebec who represent con-
stituents who work at Bombardier.

What does that mean for those companies, in the theoretical con-
struct, that Canada or other countries certify each aircraft as they're
being put out?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: I take you back to the opening com-
ments that we provided this committee and our certificate efforts on
the Airbus 220. I mentioned that there were more than 150,000 per-
son hours provided to the certification of that aircraft.

Now, we look at all the aircraft in the aviation system right now.
If we needed to apply that exact same standard to each and every
aircraft, we wouldn't have the accessibility to aircraft and the
amount of aircraft in our system. We would not be able to certify
every single aircraft to that degree.

Mr. Chris Bittle: The 150,000 person hours sounds like a lot,
and it is a lot. In terms of time, is certifying an aircraft something
that would be measured in years?

Mr. David Turnbull: It's six years.

Mr. Chris Bittle: My final question is very direct. If the FAA
certifies this aircraft and there's a lingering doubt in Transport
Canada's mind, will this aircraft fly in Canadian airspace?

Mr. Nicholas Robinson: No. I can assure this committee, and
we've assured Canadians previously, that we will not validate this
aircraft until our safety concerns, which we addressed back in April
with the FAA and continue to pursue and get answers on, are ad-
dressed. Until our concerns are addressed, we will not unground
this aircraft.

Mr. David Turnbull: It may also be worth noting that we al-
ready have additional measures we're planning to put in place
above and beyond what would be required by the FAA, and this is
open knowledge to both Boeing and the FAA. We have suggested
they do numerous things. Fortunately, in some cases, as time went
on they started to adopt these ideas. I guess they came to their own
conclusions. It validated our concerns, but we're not done yet. We
still have unique procedural elements in the flight manual on the ta-
ble, which could be part of a unique Canadian aircraft flight manual
supplement. It's part of our certification that would not be equiva-
lent or common with the FAA. We have the same opportunity to do
that with training as well.

We are not bound exclusively by what the FAA comes out with.
Mr. Chris Bittle: Thank you so much.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Bittle. Thank you, Mr. Turnbull.

We're now going to the last round.

Mr. Barsalou-Duval, you have two and a half minutes.
[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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My question is for both Mr. Turnbull and Mr. Robinson. Howev-
er, it may be more for you, Mr. Turnbull, given that you are in
charge more specifically of issuing certifications.

The MCAS system is recent, I believe. It was installed in the 737
MAX planes. Considering that it was a new system, I imagine you
had to concern yourself with this system from a validation and cer-
tification perspective.

Can you tell me how the problem that struck the 737 MAX
planes could have gone undetected?

Mr. David Turnbull: Thank you.
[English]

We have to go back to the original validation where, as previous-
ly explained, we look at the changes from the previous model.

The MCAS was presented to us. The explanation for its exis-
tence and the way it operates was defined to us. However, at the
time we did not have cause to dig any deeper. We understood the
extent to which it was explained, and we went on from there. We
focused on other areas. Unfortunately, this is the way we learn
sometimes. Most of the amendments to the standards throughout
history have been a result—

® (1700)
[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Do you believe that there was neg-
ligence, that this was a mistake on your part?

[English]
Mr. David Turnbull: No, not at all.

We are relying on what is presented to us in line with the concept
of doing a validation. As Mr. Robinson explained, we cannot go
back and recertify the entire aircraft. We have to choose the areas
we will review.

It so happened that MCAS was not an area that we delved into in
any great depth. We were satisfied with the explanation. We raised
issues on other matters.

Obviously, the accidents have revealed things about MCAS that
we surely wish we had understood, and I believe the FAA would
feel the same.

[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I am trying to understand what
you are saying. You say you verified something else, but did not
verify the MCAS system. I asked you whether the fact that the you
did not verify the MCAS system was a mistake and you answered
in the negative.

I don't understand why you are saying that it wasn't a mistake.
[English]

Mr. David Turnbull: I don't like to be flippant, but with 20/20
hindsight—I believe one of the members mentioned that—we know
a lot more now than we did then. Often in aircraft accidents—and
there have been many throughout history—what we learned from
that accident was not known by the designer nor by the regulator. It
became common knowledge after the fact.

This is a situation where we learn and have learned about failure
modes of the MCAS, how it relates to the basic architecture of the
airplane.

I can assure you if we had had any of that knowledge at the time,
we would have been digging a lot further, but with the aviation in-
dustry, as with the automobile industry and any other product that's
produced, when things go wrong and things break, those are oppor-
tunities where we learn things we previously did not know.

It's not a question of negligence unless somebody is deliberately
hiding information. That's a completely different subject. This is
simply a question of what we learn after these accidents.

[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: In your opinion, if you had spent
150,000 hours conducting validations like on the CSeries planes,
would you have discovered this problem?

[English]

Mr. David Turnbull: Oh yes, indeed. The certification process
of every aircraft that we go through involves stumbling over prob-
lems that we cannot perceive.

I'm sure many of you have wondered why it has taken so long to
get the Max back in service. It is a result of the certification pro-
cess. There have been three iterations, and still one to go with the
software patch that Boeing is developing because partway through
the development of the software patch more problems were discov-
ered and they had to fix them. That's one of the benefits of the certi-
fication process. You have the opportunity to wring it out, to test
the system, to prove that it operates. If you discover a problem, you
do not proceed. You go back and fix it.

That's why we're still sitting here today with the 737 Max on the
ground.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Turnbull.

Thank you, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.
That will do it for the rounds of questions.

Gentlemen, thank you for coming out and being very forthright
in giving us the information we were expecting. We all know this is
a very sensitive topic. We're going to try to get through it with the
expectations of the committee members. I do, once again, thank
you for that.

I thank members for the questions, as well as for drawing the in-
formation out from the witnesses.

I'm going to suspend for about two minutes before we get on
with committee business.

Following that, we will have to clear the room because we will
be going in camera.
Thank you.

° (Pause)

® (1709)

The Chair: We will reconvene.
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Members, as we have new roles going into this session on this
committee, I'm going to ask if there is a desire to go in camera or
whether you want to stay in an open session.

If there is a desire to go in camera, I would require a motion.

Mr. Luc Berthold (Mégantic—L'Erable, CPC): We're good.

The Chair: Everybody is fine. Good. Let's proceed.

We have a few items that we want to discuss with respect to
committee business, the first being the current study, and then sub-
sequent meetings. We're doing the aircraft certification process

study right now. With that, we do have meetings scheduled for
March 10, 12 and 24.

Is that fine?

Mr. El-Khoury.
® (1710)

Mr. Faycal El-Khoury: Mr. Chair, I have a motion.

I propose that Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval be a vice-chair for this
committee.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. El-Khoury.

Are there any questions or comments on the motion?

Mr. Scot Davidson: You don't want to hear what I have to say.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

The Chair: We do have a motion presented by Mr. El-Khoury
that Mr. Barsalou-Duval be appointed as vice-chair of the commit-
tee.

Mr. Luc Berthold: May I have a few seconds to consult with my
whip?

The Chair: That's fine. Go ahead.

Mr. Scot Davidson: I just want to ask a question.

How much does it cost the taxpayer? How much do we pay a
vice-chair?

Mr. Luc Berthold: It's $6,000 a year.

Mr. Scot Davidson: I'm just always concerned about the taxpay-
er. I'm just getting a....

Mr. Luc Berthold: Six thousand a year. We're okay with that.

The Chair: Okay. We do have a motion.

There is another question.

Ms. Ashton.

Ms. Niki Ashton (Churchill—Keewatinook Aski, NDP): Ob-
viously, Mr. Chair, I wasn't party to the lead-up in these conversa-
tions. I have tremendous respect for my colleague in the Bloc, but I
am of the understanding that these discussions are still ongoing at
PROC, and certainly with respect as well to the NDP's involvement
as well. I am concerned about the fact that we are approaching this
discussion as a one-off rather than respecting the process that is al-
ready under way at the PROC committee.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Ashton.
Mr. Bittle.

Mr. Chris Bittle: My understanding, and I'm happy to be proven
wrong, is that PROC has decided in terms of adding an extra vice-
chair, but it hasn't been concurred in yet in the House. Obviously, if
the House decides to do that, it's something we can revisit, but I be-
lieve, pursuant to the Standing Orders, that with regard to a third
party, they have the ability to be the second vice-chair of the com-
mittee until such time as the rules pursuant to that are amended.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Bittle.
Are there further questions or comments on the motion?

Mr. Barsalou-Duval.
[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Mr. Chair, could you please ex-
plain the usual practice for this type of motion, given that it con-
cerns me directly.

Is there a potential conflict of interest that would require me to
abstain from voting on the motion?

I would also like to say that it is important and normal for there
to be a deputy chair from the Bloc Québécois, the second opposi-
tion party.

However, I would like you to clarify the first part of my ques-
tion.
[English]

The Chair: You can vote.
[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Is it customary to allow that?
[English]

The Chair: You're fine. You don't have a conflict of interest.

Are there further questions or comments?

Ms. Ashton.
® (1715)

Ms. Niki Ashton: Maybe just as a lead-up, I appreciate that in-
formation. My latest information is from our whip's office. Again,
this is not to oppose a particular proposal, but rather to support both

the PROC committee and now, of course, the House in taking the
necessary steps before we jump in as a committee.

I think it's a question as well of respecting that these processes
are there in such a way that they apply to all committees, rather
than committees going off in any one direction. I appreciate that the
point was made about revisiting, but I also think that in this very
moment it's important to respect processes as they are ongoing,
whether in committee or in the House.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Ashton.

Are there further questions or comments, members?
(Motion agreed to)

The Chair: Thank you.

We're now going to move to the witnesses.
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We have a study ongoing right now. Names of witnesses have
been presented to the clerk's office as of Monday at four o'clock.
The clerk is saying that if you want to submit additional witnesses
you can have an extension to 4 p.m. on Wednesday.

Is that fine with you, Madam Clerk?

Members, if you have any additional witnesses for this study,
you're more than welcome to submit that list to the clerk's office no
later than 4 p.m. on Wednesday.

Mr. Luc Berthold: Wednesday is tomorrow?
The Chair: Wednesday is tomorrow.

Do you have a question on that, Mr. Rogers?
Mr. Churence Rogers: It's not about the witnesses.
The Chair: Okay.

Do you have a question on that, Mr. Berthold?
No. Okay.

Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Churence Rogers: I wanted to bring this to the attention of
the committee. I'm bringing an amended motion in regard to the
ministers' visits on Thursday. We all agreed that the Minister of
Transport and the Minister of Infrastructure and Communities
would be invited to attend on Thursday to talk about mandate let-
ters.

Given our schedule and timeline now that we're going to be do-
ing the Max 8 witness study until March 24 in a very tight time
frame, I'm thinking that it's in the best interests of the committee if
we want to get an opportunity to question the ministers on supple-
mentary estimates that we try to squeeze it into our Thursday ses-
sion.

I'm prepared to table an amended motion that we would invite
the ministers to answer questions on supplementary estimates on
Thursday as well.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Churence Rogers: I have a copy of the motion here, Mr.
Chair, if you want—

The Chair: If you want to distribute it, that would be great.
Thank you.

[Translation]
Mr. Luc Berthold: We already have it, Mr. Chair.
[English]

Mr. Churence Rogers: I will read the motion, if you wish, Mr.
Chair.

The Chair: Mr. Rogers, you can read the motion, please.

Mr. Churence Rogers: It is:

That, when the Minister of Transport and the Minister of Infrastructure and
Communities appear before the committee on Thursday, February 27, 2020, on
the subject of their respective mandate letters, that they also appear on the topic
of the supplementary estimates (B) that has been referred to the committee.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Are there any questions or comments?

Mr. Berthold.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Berthold: Before I begin, I would like some clarifica-
tion from the clerk regarding the ministers' appearance on Thurs-
day.

Are we receiving the Minister of Infrastructure and Communities
for one hour and then the Minister of Transport for one hour?

The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Caroline Bosc): Yes.

Mr. Luc Berthold: Okay. Each minister will therefore have one
hour.

Mr. Rogers, with all due respect, I think that the ministers' man-
date letters are a very important aspect of what Canadians expect
from them. Unfortunately, we didn't have the time to talk about that
previously because the committees hadn't convened yet. I think we
should focus on the mandate letters for now.

Usually, when we talk about supplementary estimates, we call on
officials to be present. Unfortunately, if we call on the officials at
the same time as the ministers, we won't have enough time to talk
about the mandate letters. I prefer that we focus on their mandate
letters, in other words the political component, when they visit.
Then we could invite the ministers and departmental representa-
tives to talk about the supplementary estimates and other matters
that might be raised.

If we do what you are proposing, we will unfortunately not have
enough time to question the ministers on their mandate letters. I
therefore cannot support this motion.

® (1720)
[English]
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Berthold.

Are there further questions or comments?

Mr. Churence Rogers: 1 appreciate and understand your con-
cern, Mr. Berthold—

The Chair: Hold on, Mr. Rogers.
Mr. Churence Rogers: Sorry.
The Chair: Ms. Ashton.

Ms. Niki Ashton: I have very similar concerns. This is an oppor-
tunity to really delve into the mandate letter, which covers a num-
ber of different areas. I would think that the minister himself would
be very happy to spend all of his time talking about what he's been
asked to work on, and I also certainly never have been on a com-
mittee where it's not important to have the minister back on the es-
timates when they are around, so I'm a bit surprised by this, in fact.

I think the minister himself would be proud to talk about what
he's working on.

The Chair: Mr. Rogers.
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Mr. Churence Rogers: Just from a practicality perspective, I'm
looking at the schedule, and we very quickly got the ministers to
agree to this particular meeting on Thursday. I'm not so sure what
their schedules will be in the future, but we were just thinking, from
the perspective of that factor, it might be an opportunity to ask
some questions on supplementary estimates.

Of course, we are at the wishes of the committee.
The Chair: Great, thank you.

Are there further questions or comments?

Ms. Block.

Mrs. Kelly Block: I'm just going to ask a question to clarify
something in my own mind. When do they have to be deemed re-
ported?

The Chair: Madam Clerk.
The Clerk: Three days before the end of the supply period.
Mrs. Kelly Block: The end of the supply period is March 26.

The Clerk: It is March 10, but the last supply day is usually
three days before that or the end of the supply period, so if the last
supply day or the last opposition day takes place sometime in that
week, then it would be three days prior to that, but we don't yet
know when that day will be.

The Chair: Thank you. It's very tight.
Are there further questions or comments?

It's just trying to do the math in terms of scheduling the work we
have ahead of us, and now with three days in advance of the March
10 deadline, it's very difficult to squeeze all this in.

Mr. Bittle.

Mr. Chris Bittle: I'd like to echo squeezing all this in and the
difficulties therein. Additionally, there would be an expectation that
the minister appear with respect to the study we are currently en-
gaged in, and so to have the minister here three successive times is
a lot to ask. We're happy to put up the officials and make it a sepa-
rate day, if it would be a preference for the opposition to carve out a
date on which officials can be questioned with respect to the esti-
mates, a separate date, but this was a priority study for the Conser-
vatives working on that. The minister will appear on that.

There's a priority also for the Conservatives that the minister ap-
pear on the mandate letter quickly, and we were able to make that
happen as well.

I'm not sure we can fit all of that in with respect to the minister's
schedule.

The Chair: Mr. Barsalou-Duval.

[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I didn't know that the minister had
been called for the 737 MAX study, but that makes sense since this
is a hot issue and rather important. However, if we do the study on
the 737 MAX and question the minister at the same time that we
address his mandate letter, I think we won't have enough time to
talk about it. That is a lot of time. I wonder if we can come up with
another solution.

I understand that you wanted to avoid calling the minister too
many times because it is too hard to coordinate with his schedule. If
we asked questions on the 737 MAX and on the budget that day,
but took two hours instead of one and we addressed the mandate
letter of the Minister of Infrastructure and Communities another
time, we would have a full hour to study each of these topics. I'm
just tossing out an idea. I haven't talked to anyone about it.

Is that something that might work out? The important thing to
me is that we do not cut into the time allotted for the study on the
mandate letter. I think that we will have a lot of questions to ask
because the mandate letter has a rather broad scope.

® (1725)
[English]
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.

Is there a member who wants to answer that question?

Mr. Bittle.

Mr. Chris Bittle: We're willing to work with the opposition, but
if his appearance with respect to the Max 8.... I guess we'd be open
for that to be broader, but again, given his schedule and the number
of issues that are currently in crisis mode on his plate at the mo-
ment, perhaps a regular one-hour appearance with respect to the
Boeing Max 8 could be broadened, and questions could be asked
with respect to the supplementary estimates.

The minister's schedule is very tight. Given the number of ques-
tions I fielded in question period on Friday, I know that his office is
busy. He's engaged actively and heavily with respect to not only
this file but many others, most critically the rail blockades at the
moment. I think that two appearances in a very short period of time
is reasonable, and we can work within those two hours to meet
what the opposition is looking to achieve. However, again, it has to
be done.... We're on a break week next week, and this is being done
in rapid succession.

The Chair: Mr. Berthold.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Berthold: We could ask the minister if he is available
on March 10. That would be the best thing to do to try to speed
things up here. We set a date for the study, March 10, but have yet
to call witnesses for that date. We could ask the minister to come
then and we could also talk about the supplementary estimates.

Again, I took the time to carefully read the ministers' mandate
letters. There are so many different aspects and important files that
we would need two hours with each minister. These are things that
Canadians are concerned about, whether we are talking about cli-
mate change, infrastructure or transport. I think that one hour per
minister is not too much to ask. If anyone here had a question about
the supplementary estimates and absolutely wanted a response, they
could ask their question then. After all, the time belongs to each
parliamentarian.
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With all due respect to the parliamentary secretary, it is not the
committee's job to manage the minister's schedule. Our colleagues
around the table are not here to manage the ministers' agendas. As
we keep hearing in response to our questions in the House of Com-
mons, the committees are free and independent from the govern-
ment's agenda. Here, it is up to us to decide whether it is reasonable
to set aside two hours for both ministers. I sincerely think it is.
Then we could ask the ministers to come back to talk about the sup-
plementary estimates, even if that means getting Mr. Garneau to
come just once to also talk about the study. That would be the best
solution.

I really want us to talk about the ministerial mandate letters. I
can't ask that we postpone the study of the mandate letter of the
Minister of Infrastructure and Communities to another meeting, al-
though I appreciate the suggestion. There are so many things we
want to talk about when it comes to infrastructure that I cannot go
in that direction.

[English]
The Chair: The challenge, Mr. Berthold, is time. We already
have witnesses scheduled for the 10th. We have witnesses, includ-

ing Mr. Garneau, for the aircraft certification process on the 12th.
Then we have the families on the 24th.

® (1730)

The Chair: That's what we have scheduled. Basically when you
look at what you're speaking of now, trying to find time to try to
squeeze this in, you see it's is going to be challenging, especially if
you want to get to the estimates before the 12th.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Berthold: To my knowledge, we don't have a deadline
for our current study on the 737 MAX. There's nothing stopping us
from pushing back the March 10 meeting. We are not constrained
by any sort of deadline.

Earlier, the witnesses talked about how long the process has been
and they indicated that there is still a lot of work ahead concerning
certification. Accordingly, I don't think it there is any urgency for
holding a meeting on the 737 MAX on March 10. We have all the
latitude we need as a committee to reasonably accomplish all of
this.

[English]
The Chair: Mr. Bittle.

Mr. Chris Bittle: It's interesting. A couple of days ago we heard
that we're here to get to work, and Mr Davidson banged on the ta-
ble and said this study is urgent and we need to get to work and
how dare we Liberals take one extra meeting to try to figure out the
schedule.

If only someone had mentioned the supplementary estimates at
that point in the meeting, if only there was a member who brought
that up as an issue.... But this was the priority of the Conservative
Party. Tables were slammed, outrage was feigned and now they are
saying, “Whoa. This is not our priority. Let's slow down. Let's calm
down and do something else.”

I appreciate that in camera we have a.... I guess we're still public.

The Chair: We're still public.

Mr. Luc Berthold: Continue. That's fine. I really like what you
are doing right now.

Mr. Chris Bittle: I have nothing to hide with respect to that is-
sue. It's something that I've brought up before. It's something that
you demanded was a priority a couple of days ago. Now it isn't a
priority. Now we can hold off on this study to squeeze in something
else, even though the minister is available.

The minister will be here, and the minister will appear on the
study that you said was the number one priority and that we need to
get to work on.

How dare the government members try to suggest that we plan
our schedule and take an extra meeting to ensure that all of the i's
are dotted and t's are crossed: That's what happened last week. We
find ourselves here now with the Conservatives asking the exact
opposite.

We appreciate that was priority. The ministers will be here. The
minister will be scheduled with respect to the 737 Max. Let's take
advantage of what we have, the witnesses we've scheduled and
their time, and move that forward.

The Chair: We are past 5:30 p.m.

We can adjourn or we can deal with this. I will leave it to the
pleasure of the committee.

Mr. Luc Berthold: I propose to adjourn.
The Chair: All right. We are going to adjourn. Thank you.
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